STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

---

ORIGINAL

Appeal from Florence County

Honorable R. Knox McMahon, Circuit Court Judge

---

RECEIVED

MAY 08 2017

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

CORY NETTLES ALLEN,

APPELLANT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2016-000686

---

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

---

ROBERT M. DUDEK  
Chief Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense  
Division of Appellate Defense  
PO Box 11589  
Columbia, SC 29211-1589  
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

**

**STATEMENT OF ISSUE ON APPEAL**

Whether the court erred by refusing to redact the portion of the 911 call where Coe speculated about the motive for the shooting being a prior incident, since this speculation was no longer an excited utterance or present sense impression, and it should have been excluded given its tendency to confuse the jury, and its extremely prejudicial effect?

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Appellant was indicted by the Florence County Grand Jury for the offense of murder. R. \* His case came on for trial on March 21, 2016, before the Honorable R. Knox McMahon, and a jury. Rose Mary Parham represented appellant. Edgar L. Clements, III, was the solicitor. Tr. 1.

On March 23, 2016, the jury found appellant guilty of murder. Tr. 506, ll. 20-22. Judge McMahon sentenced appellant to forty years imprisonment. Tr. 512, ll. 5-9.

This appeal follows.

## ARGUMENT

The court erred by refusing to redact the portion of the 911 call where Coe speculated about the motive for the shooting being a prior incident, since this speculation was no longer an excited utterance or present sense impression, and it should have been excluded given its tendency to confuse the jury, and its extremely prejudicial effect

### **Relevant Facts**

Appellant Cory Allen told the police when they arrived on the scene in the Tara Village neighborhood that the decedent pulled a gun, and shot at him. Appellant returned fire in self-defense after the decedent, who had been riding on a moped, shot at him or pointed a gun at him. Tr. 418, l. 21 – 419, l. 7.

Florence County Sherriff's Deputy Andrew Hardin testified that on June 4, 2014, he went to Tara Village, which was referred to as "the hood" during the trial, to a "shots fired" dispatch. Tr. 141, l. 6 – 143 l. 3. Hardin got out of his police car, and he pulled his gun. He pointed the gun at the ground as he was trained. Tr. 141, l. 13 – 143, l. 16.

Hardin ordered appellant and his brother Fred "to get on their knees and let me see their hands. . . . Mr. Cory pulled a pistol from around his back side where he was holding it, and then placed it on the ground and got on his knees and spread his arms and legs out." Tr. 143, l. 21 – 144, l. 3.

Hardin said he walked over to appellant and put handcuffs on him. He read him his Miranda<sup>1</sup> warnings. Tr. 144, ll. 10-18. Appellant told Hardin that the decedent pulled a gun on him, and that he shot him in self-defense. Tr. 145, ll. 14-22. The shooting occurred in front of

---

<sup>1</sup> Miranda v. Arizona, 384 U.S. 436 (1966).

Debra Coe's house, and appellant asked Coe to call 911. Tr. 420, ll. 6-15. Appellant told Coe "that he had pulled a gun on me and I shot [him]." Tr. 420, ll. 21-22.

The state's theory of the case was that appellant intentionally shot the decedent because the decedent had killed his brother years before, and the decedent was acquitted of murder in that case. The decedent went to prison for a short time for illegally being in possession of a gun, and for a probation violation. "Revenge" as will be seen infra was the solicitor's theme and his theory of this case.

The 911 caller, Ms. Coe, was not called to testify before the jury because the solicitor claimed he could not trust her to tell the truth. The 911 tape was published to the jury without the opportunity for cross-examination before the jury.

As will also be seen infra, defense counsel argued that the first portion of the 911 tape stating the emergency -- that the decedent had been shot-- was admissible. However, defense counsel Parham, argued the portion of the 911 tape where Coe speculated about appellant's "motive" to shoot the decedent – **an incident that occurred about a year before** -- no longer qualified as an excited utterance or present sense impression. That portion of the 911 tape should have been redacted, since it was inadmissible speculative hearsay that tended to confuse the matter.

The 911 tape is on file for this Court to review. It easily could have been redacted to remove Coe's speculation that appellant shot the decedent because of a prior incident. It was extremely prejudicial, and defense counsel correctly argued it was confusing. It was clear defense counsel's objection was pursuant to Rule 403, SCRE, because the 911 call regarding the prior incident had a spurious tendency to "corroborate" the state's theory of the case that appellant shot the decedent *because of that prior incident, and not in self-defense*. In context, it

also showed Coe did not believe the shooting was in self-defense where she would not make herself available for cross-examination where the state refused to call her, and the 911 tape did the damage without an opportunity for cross-examination. As will also be seen infra Coe had nothing to say that would have been helpful to appellant, and he correctly did not call her as a witness.

Further, and respectfully, the judge's reasoning that the state did not have to prove a motive missed the point. The remainder of the 911 call that was not admissible as an excited utterance or present sense impression, and it was highly prejudicial given its speculative nature about motive – the prior incident -- which tracked the state's theory of the case. Tr. 120, l. 18 – 128, l. 2. The fact the prior incident occurred more than one year before was irrelevant. What was clear was that **Coe speculated appellant shot the decedent because of the prior incident.** That destroyed the complete defense of self-defense.

The state called Veronica Peoples, the 911 worker, as its first witness. Peoples testified on June 4, 2014, at 8:30, Deborah Coe called 911 about the shooting in Tara Village. Tr. 119, l. 10 – 120, l. 22. When the solicitor went to publish the 911 call, defense counsel objected. Counsel Parham specifically objected to the portion of the tape where Coe talked about the shooting being about a prior incident, about what happened about a year ago (actually, more than a year ago) when the decedent shot and killed appellant's brother and was acquitted at trial. Parham noted the in camera testimony of Coe, where she said she was in her back yard cutting the grass at the time of the shooting, and she did not see the shooting. Her conclusions that appellant shot the decedent because of a prior incident did not qualify as an excited utterance or present sense impression, and it no longer remained under the hearsay exception. It was

confusing and prejudicial, and the 911 tape could have easily been redacted to remove the speculation about the prior incident.

Defense counsel also noted at the time that Coe may later refuse to testify for the state, and she therefore could not be cross-examined. Coe certainly was not going to be a favorable witness for the defense. A common sense reading of her demeanor from the trial transcript, and listening to the 911 tape reveals she was “a loose cannon.” The 911 tape was published to the jury over defense counsel’s objection. Tr. 120, l. 18 – 127, l. 25.

Nicole Bethea was an employee of the Florence County Clerk of Court’s office. She testified that the decedent, Edward Windham, had been indicted for murder, possession of a weapon in the commission of a violent crime, and possession of a weapon by a person convicted of a violent crime. The victim in that case was appellant’s brother “Robert Allen.” The decedent was found not guilty of murder and not guilty of voluntary manslaughter and not guilty of possession of a weapon during the commission of a violent crime in the death of appellant’s brother. However, he was found guilty of possession of a pistol by a person convicted of a violent crime. Decedent received a five year prison term at the time, and a consecutive sentence for the resulting probation violation. Tr. 129, l. 1 – 130, l. 13.

There was evidence presented that following the shooting of the decedent by appellant that a crowd gathered in the area, and “there were several disorderly people” in the crowd. Florence County Sherriff’s Deputy Jake Chamberlain testified appellant was cooperative with the police, and he sat in the grass with his handcuffs on while this disorderly crowd gathered. Coe also told the 911 operator that a crowd was gathering. Tr. 147, l. 18 – 152, l. 7. That 911 tape is on file for this Court to review.

A Lincoln Town Car, that belonged to appellant's brother, Fred, was parked down the street from the site of the shooting. Inside the glove compartment was a pistol and a holster which the police witnesses would acknowledge was not illegal. Tr. 165, l. 3 – 167, l. 16.

SLED gunshot residue expert Whitney Berry testified that the gunshot residue tests on the decedent “were negative for gunshot residue.”<sup>2</sup> Appellant obviously tested positive since he admitted shooting the decedent in self-defense. Appellant's brother, Fred, also did not have gunshot residue on his hands. Tr. 350, l. 22 – 355 l. 13. The jury was read a stipulation that a twenty-five caliber pistol found near the moped after the shooting belonged to the decedent in this case, Edward Windham. Tr. 410, ll. 14-23.

A nine millimeter Ruger, a magazine which was partially full, and another magazine that was completely full, were found at the scene of the shooting, as was the twenty-five caliber pistol. Shell casings were also found at the scene. Tr. 196, l. 3 – 202, l. 13. The decedent's money and a cigarette lighter were in the decedent's pocket. The state chose not to have the twenty-five caliber pistol analyzed for DNA since it stipulated the gun belonged to the decedent. Tr. 239, l. 17 – 240, l. 16.

The decedent's cell phone was also inspected, and it was determined there was no evidence on either the decedent's cell phone or appellant's phone linking the two men to each other by phone call, text message or otherwise. Tr. 269 l. 10 – 271, l. 13. Appellant acknowledged he knew the decedent, and that he was afraid of the decedent. Appellant told the

---

<sup>2</sup> This Court can take judicial notice that Whitney Berry was subsequently fired from SLED as a result of inaccurate conclusions on GSR cases. SLED's faulty gunshot residue tests delaying some prosecutions around South Carolina, The State Newspaper, May 6 2017. <http://www.thestate.com/news/local/crime/article149066069.html>

solicitor that the decedent had made threats to him through “other people” while he was in jail, and appellant was afraid because the decedent “had killed before.” Tr. 443, ll. 9-25.

The state called Glyn Peter Farnum as a witness. Farnum ran Farnum’s Frame and Body Shop in Florence. He was from Barbados. Tr. 304, l. 14 – 306, l. 3.

Farnum testified that appellant worked for him at the body shop about sixteen months prior to the shooting in this case. Tr. 306, ll. 10-19. Farnum admitted he paid appellant one hundred and twenty-five dollars a week in cash for his work, and he did not keep any employment records. Appellant worked for him for about six months. Tr. 311, l. 16 – 312, l. 10. Farnum admitted he could not be exact about these timeframes since he did not keep any records.

The essence of Farnum’s testimony was that appellant had a concealed weapons permit, which was undisputed, and Farnum confronted appellant about carrying the gun. Appellant told Farnum he had a concealed weapons permit. Appellant explained to Farnum that his brother had been killed, and the man who killed him “didn’t get a long time.” Farnum claimed appellant told him: “I’m going to kill him.” Farnum maintained he told appellant his mother had already lost one son, “If you do this, she gone (sic) lost two sons.” Tr. 306, l. 24 – 308, l. 22.

Farnum said he later saw a television report that appellant had shot the decedent. Farnum claimed that he felt obligated to get involved. Tr. 309, ll. 12-24.

Patrick Woodberry had known appellant “from the neighborhood” for about twenty years. Woodberry also knew the decedent, who was known in the neighborhood as “Littles.” They were both from “the hood” -- Tara Village. Tr. 333, ll. 3-24. Littles also knew Debra Coe, the 911 caller, since the decedent had been Coe’s neighbor. Tr. 341, ll. 18-20.

On the day of the shooting, Woodberry remembered seeing appellant’s brother’s Lincoln Town Car parked on the street. He also recalled seeing the decedent driving his moped in the

area. Tr. 336, l. 11 – 338, l. 21. Woodberry said he saw the decedent about every day in the neighborhood or down by the “the store” riding on his moped. Woodberry remembered seeing the decedent after he had been shot laying on his hands and knees near the moped. Tr. 339, l. 7 – 342, l. 17. Coe told the 911 operator that it was apparent that the decedent was dead.

Appellant testified that he was in Tara Village that day to help a friend work on a car. He did not expect to see the decedent in the neighborhood that day. Tr. 450, ll. 5-10. Appellant told the jurors that he was walking on Candy Lane in the neighborhood when the decedent came up on his moped. The decedent pulled a gun “on me and I fired at him.” Appellant testified that he was afraid of the decedent because the decedent had threatened him through other people. Tr. 419, ll. 1-20; tr. 443, ll. 9-25.

### **Discussion**

Defense counsel correctly argued that the portion of the 911 tape – about the prior incident -- that did not constitute an excited utterance or present sense impression should have been redacted. Coe’s speculation about what the cause of the shooting -- the prior incident --was extremely prejudicial where appellant’s defense was self-defense. At the time of the admission of the 911 tape, it was known there was a very clear possibility that Coe would refuse to testify. The trial judge had told her she had no right to take the Fifth Amendment since she was not in jeopardy regarding this case or any other case. Coe responded that she was not going to testify “against nobody.” She told the judge she was not going to testify, and the judge told her if she refused to testify or was not respectful to the court “I will hold you in direct contempt.” Tr. 64, l. 6 – 68, l. 5. The judge said if Coe refused to testify that he would seemingly have to deal with the situation at that time. The judge then admitted the 911 tape over the defense objection that is should first be redacted to remove the prior incident reference.

Appellant was denied the opportunity to cross-examine Coe. The solicitor decided not to call Coe, and he stated that the defense could call Coe as a witness if she chose. Again, it was apparent that Coe would not have been a positive witness for appellant – he had shot her former neighbor -- and defense counsel should not be faulted for not calling her as a witness. Moreover, it would have been simple for the 911 tape to have been redacted to remove the objectionable speculation about the prior incident having been the motive for the shooting. Even if the speculation was relevant and probative—and it was not—defense counsel correctly objected that it would be confusing to the jury and unduly prejudicial to appellant.

That Rule 403, SCRE objection was absolutely on point. The speculation had the impermissible spurious tendency to confuse the jury that Coe, who knew both appellant and the decedent, essentially corroborated the state’s theory of the case immediately after the shooting.

The trial judge abused his discretion by not redacting the 911 tape to take out speculation about the prior incident because it would confuse the issues for the jury. See, State v. Gregory, 198 S.C. 98, 16 S.E.2d 532 (1941); State v. Alexander, 303 S.C. 377, 401 S.E.2d 146 (1991) (Relevant evidence may be excluded where its probative value is substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice or it is confusing). Rule 403, SCRE. Defense counsel correctly argued the speculation contained on the 911 tape no longer qualified as an excited utterance under Rule 803(2), SCRE or a present sense impression under Rule 803(1), SCRE. That part of the statement that no longer was a statement relating to a startling event while Coe was under the stress of the excitement caused by the event or statement describing or explaining an event while Coe was perceiving the event or immediately thereafter. It was Coe’s speculation that appellant shot the decedent because of the prior incident. In a self-defense case it was extraordinarily prejudicial.

This was a highly unusual case where Coe's speculation seemed hand in glove with the state's theory of the motive for the shooting, and it was therefore very prejudicial and irrelevant under Rule 401, SCRE, since it was not evidence having any tendency to make the existence of any fact that was of consequence to the determination of the action more or less probable than it would have been without Coe's speculation. Even if it was relevant, it should have been excluded because of its tendency to confuse the jury, and because its probative value was substantially outweighed by the danger of the undue prejudice of the speculation. See, Richardson v. Donald Hawkins Construction Inc., 381 S.C. 347, 673 S.E.2d 808(2009) (unusual procedural posture can cause evidence to confuse or mislead the jury). Rule 403, SCRE.

Here, the state's theory of the case was that the prior incident – the killing of appellant's brother by the decedent – was the motive for the killing of the decedent. "Revenge" was the solicitor's theme in his opening, Tr. 108, and his closing, Tr. 469. That made Coe's speculation about the prior incident later in the 911 call extremely and unduly prejudicial and confusing. The 911 tape should have been redacted to easily remove that speculation in this self-defense case. Appellant should be granted a new trial.

**CONCLUSION**

By reason of the foregoing argument, appellant's conviction should be reversed and this case remanded to the Florence County Court of General Sessions for a new trial.



---

Robert M. Dudek  
Chief Appellate Defender

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT