ORIGINAL

**STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals**

Appeal from Florence County
The Honorable R. Knox McMahon, Circuit Court Judge

THE STATE,

Respondent,

v.

CORY NETTLES ALLEN,

Appellant.

Appellate Case No. 2016-000686

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

DONALD J. ZELENKA
Deputy Attorney General

MELODY J. BROWN
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General

SUSANNAH R. COLE
Assistant Attorney General
P.O. Box 11549
Columbia, South Carolina 29211
(803) 734-6305

EDGAR L. CLEMENTS, III
Solicitor, Twelfth Judicial Circuit
Box Q
City-County Complex
Florence, South Carolina 29501
(843) 665-3091

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

Y. BROWN
SEP 08 2016
COURT OF APPEALS

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

ARGUMENT

Because the prior death of Allen's brother was relevant to all theories of the case, the trial court properly admitted the entire 911 call as an excited utterance and present sense impression. Additionally, the statements about the prior death were cumulative to the testimony of numerous other witnesses, and any error in the admission of 911 call was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt.

Allen never disputed he shot Windham. The only question of fact for the jury was whether 1) Allen, fearing for his life, reasonably shot his brother's killer after that killer

threatened him with a gun; or 2) Allen, seeking revenge, gunned down Windham on the street that evening when he finally saw the opportunity. The death of Allen's brother was critical to both the State's theory and the defense's theory of the case. Ms. Coe's reference in the 911 call to the earlier shooting, which was the portion to which Allen objected, was relevant and even consistent with the arguments presented to the jury. In ruling on its admissibility, the trial court found the 911 call constituted a continuous statement that could not easily be redacted. The court further found the references to the prior shooting of Allen's brother were made as a present sense impression and an excited utterance. Regardless of whether the statements qualified as either, Allen cannot show prejudice from the jury's knowledge of the earlier shooting when he argued that history with Windham was why he feared for his life.

Standard of Review

"The admission or exclusion of evidence is left to the sound discretion of the trial judge, whose decision will not be reversed on appeal absent an abuse of discretion." *State v. Saltz*, 346 S.C. 114, 121, 551 S.E.2d 240, 244 (2001). An abuse of discretion occurs when the conclusions of the trial court are based on an error of law. *State v. McDonald*, 343 S.C. 319, 325, 540 S.E.2d 464, 467 (2000). A trial judge has considerable latitude in ruling on the admissibility of evidence and his rulings will not be disturbed absent a showing of probable prejudice. *State v. Kelley*, 319 S.C. 173, 177, 460 S.E.2d 368, 370 (1995). The standard of review is limited to determining whether the trial court's ruling is supported by any evidence. *State v. Breeze*, 379 S.C. 538, 543, 665 S.E.2d 247, 250 (Ct. App. 2008) (emphasis added). Here, the court correctly found Ms. Coe's statements to the 911 operator were relevant, not unduly prejudicial, and reliable as present sense impression and excited utterance exceptions to the prohibition against hearsay.

The Prior Death Was Relevant As Motive Evidence

Relevant evidence is “evidence having any tendency to make the existence of any fact that is of consequence to the determination of the action more probable or less probable than it would be without the evidence.” Rule 401, SCRE. The trial court has broad discretion in determining the relevancy of evidence and its decision to admit or exclude evidence will not be reversed on appeal absent an abuse of that discretion and a showing of prejudice. *State v. Holder*, 382 S.C. 278, 288, 676 S.E.2d 690, 696 (2009); *State v. Gaster*, 349 S.C. 545, 557, 564 S.E.2d 87, 93 (2002).

“Although relevant, evidence may be excluded if its probative value is substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice.” Rule 403, SCRE; *see also State v. Cooley*, 342 S.C. 63, 69, 536 S.E.2d 666, 669 (2000). “Unfair prejudice means an undue tendency to suggest decision on an improper basis.” *State v. Tynes*, 402 S.C.211 740 S.E.2d 512 (Ct. App. 2013); *State v. Wiles*, 383 S.C. 151, 158, 679 S.E.2d 172, 176 (2009). “All evidence is meant to be prejudicial; it is only **unfair** prejudice which must be [scrutinized under Rule 403].” *State v. Lee*, 399 S.C. 521, at 529, 732 S.E.2d 225, at 229 (Ct. App. 2012) (quotation marks and citations omitted)(emphasis added).

At trial, Allen argued Ms. Coe’s reference to the earlier shooting of Allen’s brother was inaccurate and confusing to the jury, and thereby prejudicial to Allen. (R. p. 41, lines 4-7.) Allen conceded the first portions of the 911 call were admissible as excited utterances, but said the later portions “about what happened last year” became inadmissible hearsay. (R. p. 41, lines 1-3.) Allen’s argument against admissibility had two components: the prejudice argument and the hearsay argument. Perhaps realizing he could not argue the death of Allen’s brother was irrelevant, given his opening argument in which claimed fear of his brother’s killer, he appears

to suggest the inaccuracy of Coe's statement was prejudicial, not the content. The court, however, correctly noted that mistake of fact could be corrected for the jury, and the jury could consider the inaccuracy of her statement in weighing her credibility. (R. p. 17, line 25 – p. 18, line 5; p. 43, lines 2-10.) The trial court further ordered a remedy to any confusion over the date of the brother's shooting by directing the State to provide accurate information to the jury of when the shooting took place. The State did, in fact, offer the clerk of court from Florence County to substantiate those dates. (R. p. 46, line 18 – p. 48, line 20.)

Ms. Coe's reference to earlier the shooting in the 911 call communicated to the jury information they already knew from the State's opening argument, as well as that of the defense: the death of Edward Windham was entirely related to the death of Allen's brother years before. The objectionable statements were cumulative and were in no way unfairly prejudicial to Allen. *See State v. Blackburn*, 271 S.C. 324, 329, 247 S.E.2d 334, 337 (1978) (“improperly admitted hearsay which is merely cumulative to other evidence may be viewed as harmless”).

The 911 Call Was Inherently Reliable

Allen next argues the later portions of the 911 call were inadmissible hearsay because the call contained inadmissible hearsay statements from Ms. Coe. However, Ms. Coe, who had just heard gun shots and saw a man lying dead in the street, immediately called 911 to report what she witnessed. Her statements, made over the course of an approximately seven minute long telephone call, fall within two exceptions to the prohibition against hearsay, and were thereby properly admitted at trial.

“‘Hearsay’ is a statement, other than one made by the declarant while testifying at the trial or hearing, offered in evidence to prove the truth of the matter asserted.” Rule 801(c),

SCRE. “Hearsay is not admissible except as provided by these rules or by other rules prescribed by the Supreme Court of this State or by statute.” Rule 802, SCRE.

The 911 Call Was Not Offered for the Truth of the Matter Asserted

As an initial matter, the 911 call was not offered for the truth of the matter asserted, so the statements made by Coe were not hearsay. *See Blackburn*, 271 S.C. 324, 247 S.E.2d 334 (1978) (statement implicating defendant in alleged prior crimes, which was not offered to prove the truth of the matter asserted, that is, that defendant in fact committed the prior crimes, but to establish motive, was not “hearsay” and its admission was not error). In particular, statements of one person to another to explain subsequent actions taken by the person to whom the statements were made are admissible as non-hearsay evidence. *State v. Coffey*, 326 N.C. 268, 282, 389 S.E.2d 48, 56 (1990). The 911 call explained why the officers were called to the scene and why they took investigative action to detain and question Allen upon their arrival. The State acknowledged the dates of the prior death referred to by Ms. Coe were not accurate and called the proper witnesses to clarify the correct timeline. Thus, Ms. Coe’s reference to the prior death never rises to the level of hearsay because the State did not offer the 911 call to prove Allen’s brother was killed the previous year.

**Coe Was Startled and Under Stress When She Called 911
And the Recording Was Admissible as an Excited Utterance**

Even assuming the 911 call did contain an out of court statement offered to prove the truth of the matter asserted, the statements at issue were still admissible. “A statement that is admissible because it falls within an exception in Rule 803, SCRE, such as the excited utterance exception, may be used substantively, that is, to prove the truth of the matter asserted.” *State v. Sims*, 348 S.C. 16, 20, 558 S.E.2d 518, 520–21 (2002) (citation omitted). An excited utterance is

a “statement relating to a startling event or condition made while the declarant was under the stress of excitement caused by the event or condition.” Rule 803(2), SCRE.

Three elements must be met for a statement to be an excited utterance:

- (1) the statement must relate to a startling event or condition;
- (2) the statement must have been made while the declarant was under the stress of excitement; and
- (3) the stress of excitement must be caused by the startling event or condition.

State v. Stahlnecker, 386 S.C. 609, 623, 690 S.E.2d 565, 573 (2010) (citing *Sims*, 348 S.C. at 21, 558 S.E.2d at 521). A court must consider the totality of the circumstances in determining whether a statement falls within the excited utterance exception. *Stahlnecker*, 386 S.C. at 623, 690 S.E.2d at 573. The passage of time between the startling event and the statement is one factor to consider, but it is not the dispositive factor. *Stahlnecker*, 386 S.C. at 623, 690 S.E.2d at 573; *Sims*, 348 S.C. at 21, 558 S.E.2d at 521. “Other factors useful in determining whether a statement qualifies as an excited utterance include the declarant’s demeanor, the declarant’s age, and the severity of the startling event.” *Stahlnecker*, 386 S.C. at 623, 690 S.E.2d at 573 (quoting *Sims*, 348 S.C. at 22, 558 S.E.2d at 521).

In the proffered testimony to the court, Coe testified she called 911 immediately after she heard gun shots from in front of her house. (R. p. 6, lines 18-24.) In the 911 call, Coe was alarmed and in disbelief another shooting had happened in virtually the same location and involving the same men as a previous incident in the recent past, as best she could recall. (State’s Ex. 2 at 1:50 (“Why in front of my damn house?”); State’s Ex. 2 at 3:13 (“About a year ago, the same thing happened in front of my house.”)) Coe is clearly upset, and she can be heard saying, “He’s dead. He’s laying in the street, dead. Come on!” (State’s Ex. 2 at 0:35) In fact, the 911 operator tells Ms. Coe to “calm down.” (State’s Ex. 2 at 0:40.) Later, she is upset and angry

when she exclaims “I’m trying to finish cutting my grass and I got this bull crap in front of my house!” (State’s Ex. 2 at 5:23.)

Applying the elements necessary for a statement to qualify as an excited utterance, Coe’s statements to the 911 operator 1) related to the startling event of a man being shot in the street in front of her house; 2) were within minutes of the shots being fired while she was still under stress from the shooting; and 3) her emotional state was caused by the startling event of a man being shot, again, and lying dead so close to her home. The trial court did not abuse its discretion in finding the statements to the 911 operator admissible as an excited utterance exception to the prohibition against hearsay.

Coe’s Description of the Shooting Was a Present Sense Impression

The court additionally found the statement was admissible as a present sense impression. There are three elements to the foundation for the admission of a hearsay statement as a present sense impression: (1) the statement must describe or explain an event or condition; (2) the statement must be contemporaneous with the event; and (3) the declarant must have personally perceived the event. *See* Rule 803(1), SCRE; *see also United States v. Mitchell*, 145 F.3d 572, 576 (3d Cir.1998) (listing the “three principal requirements” for a statement to be admissible as a present sense impression). *State v. Hendricks*, 408 S.C. 525, 533, 759 S.E.2d 434, 438 (Ct. App. 2014)

In the 911 call, Ms. Coe explains why she is calling 911, she describes the victim lying in the road, as well as Allen standing nearby, and she explains to the operator that the victim and Allen have a history of violent interactions. (State’s Exhibit 2.) Ms. Coe testified she called 911 immediately after hearing the gun shots and seeing the victim lying in the street. (R. p. 6, lines 18-21.) In fact, in the recording, Ms. Coe tells the operator the “moped is still running.” (State’s

Ex. 2 at 1:23.) Finally, Ms. Coe gives a detailed description of what she saw just before and after the shooting, in which she describes seeing Allen walk to the corner to follow Windham and waited for him to return back to the corner. (State's Ex. 2 at 4:45 – 5:08; 6:30.)

Ms. Coe's call to the 911 operator in which she describes what she is seeing in the street in front of her house, as well as her description of what she witnessed leading up to the shooting, was clearly her present sense impression at the time she made the call. The comments about the prior shooting, which were intertwined with her description of Windham's shooting, were an effort to make sense of what was happening before her eyes. Thus, as the trial court correctly found, the recording was admissible as a present sense impression, as well as an excited utterance.

The Evidence of Motive Was Cumulative

Lastly, improperly admitted hearsay which is merely cumulative to other evidence may be viewed as harmless. *See State v. Blackburn*, 271 S.C. 324, 329, 247 S.E.2d 334, 337 (1978); *State v. Jennings*, 394 S.C. 473, 478, 716 S.E.2d 91, 93–94 (2011). Even if this Court were to find the trial court erred in admitting the unreacted portions of the 911 call, any error would be harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. Mrs. Windham, Mr. Farnum, and Allen, himself, all referred to the death of Allen's brother during their testimonies. Ms. Coe's innocuous reference on the 911 call to the previous shooting corroborated the other witness testimony. Moreover, the reference supported either theory of the case. Appellant cannot show he was prejudiced by the admission of the entire 911 call, and any error in its admission was entirely harmless.

THE TRIAL COURT COMMITTED NO ERROR

Under all theories of the case, the death of Allen's brother was relevant. Ms. Coe's reference to the death in the 911 call could not prejudice Allen's case when he claimed fear of

the victim because of his prior violence. In ruling on its admissibility of the recording, the court found the references to the prior shooting of Allen's brother were relevant, and made as part of a present sense impression and an excited utterance. The record before this Court support's the trial court's finding. The judgments, convictions, and sentences of the trial court should be affirmed.

Respectfully submitted,

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

DONALD J. ZELENKA
Deputy Attorney General

MELODY J. BROWN
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General

SUSANNAH R. COLE
Assistant Attorney General

EDGAR L. CLEMENTS, III
Solicitor, Twelfth Judicial Circuit

BY: 
SUSANNAH R. COLE

Office of the Attorney General
P.O. Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211
(803) 734-6305

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

September 8, 2017

**STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals**

Appeal from Florence County
The Honorable R. Knox McMahon, Circuit Court Judge

THE STATE,

Respondent,

v.

CORY NETTLES ALLEN,

Appellant.

Appellate Case No. 2016-000686